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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Plymouth Congregational Church is situated on a
spacious tract of land in Coconut Grove, Florida. The building,
patterned after a Spanish Mission Church in Mexico, was designed
by Clinton MasKéhzie of New York. A Spanish stonemason,
Phillippe Feliz Rebom, was commissioned to set the stones. Each
of the hand-hewn native limestone blocks was placed by hand
during the 18-month period of construction. The one-story
stone structure has three doors and two bell towers in the main
facade. The main entry is a massive, 300-year old, hand-carved
door composed of walnut, backed with Spanish oak, and contains
the original hand-wrought iron fittings. The central door is
of immense proportions, is semi-circular, and ornamented with
stone pilasters supporting an entablature. A niche above this
door has a broken pediment above. The central door is flanked
by smaller entrance doors leading to side loggias. These side
loggias enclose the interior and extend the length of the church
in a south to north direction. Evenly spaced posts support the
eaves which extend from the gabled roof. The roof covering
consists of red Spanish and French tiles. The main facade is
perfectly balanced in appearance, and this symmetry is continued
in the pair of bell towers which extend upward from the roof
line. The bell towers are capped with stone finials, and are
notable features of the exterior. A scalloped parapet between
the bell towers is also topped with decorative finials. The
lower portion of the main facade containing the side doors are
joined to the upper portion by large scrolls. The majority of
the main facade is heavily covered by dense vine growth.
Overall plan of the Church is cruciform, with aisled nave and
includes wing extensions at the rear (north) portion of the
building. Window treatment consists of diamond-shaped panes in
french doors, with semi-circular arched transoms above. There
are no windows in the main facade. The exterior and interior
walls are formed from irregular hand-cut block of native coral.

The entire complex includes several buildings in addition

to the core building; among them-are: the sanctuary, the fellowy-

ship hall, an office building, a school, and the walled gardens.
The sanctuary and gardens are the oldest portions in the complex
The garden on the east side of the sanctuary is walled on three
sides, and enclosed on the fourth by the church. Loggias around
the walls present the effect of a cloistered courtyard. In the
north end of this courtyard there is an open pulpit built of the
same coral rock. The west side of the courtyard is not enclosed
and iscopen to the other buildings.

The sapctuary was enlarged in 1953, with additional expan-
sion in 1958. Architect Robert Law Weed designed the additions
in a style compatible to the origin¥l structure.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Plymouth Congregational Church plays a major role in
the settlement of Coconut Grove, Florida. The growth of this
19th century bay community traces from the earliest settlers
in the area who organized the Union Chapel which was the fore-
runner of Union Congregational Church, founded in 1897. James
Bolton, the first pastor, offered incorporation of his congre-
gation into whatever denomination would provide financial
assistance, and when the Church of the Pilgrims accepted, the
church was renamed Plymouth Congregational Church. The
church facility was constructed over an 18-month period, from
1916-1917. However, the history of the congregation and the
first chapel began with the establishment of a one-room Sunday
School building, erected in 1887.

Earliest known Church records of the Union Congregational
Church are dated March 2, 1901. During the first three years
of existence, a small chapel was erected on land donated by
Commodore Ralph M. Munroe. The names of Coconut Grove's first
settlers appear among the list of founders of the congregation,
and it is from this standpoint that the Plymouth Congregational
Church derives its primary significance. The first Congrega-
tionalist minister was Solomon G. Merrick, who became pastor
in May, 1901. :

Significance of this property relates not only to its
direct association with the pioneers of Coconut Grove in the
late 19th century, but also to its architectural design. As
an outstanding example of Spanish Mission style, it has been
recognized by leading architects as one of the finest specimens
of Spanish design in the South, as well as being one of the
most historic churches in Dade County, Florida.

The Church building represents the history and development]
of one of South Florida's earliest settlements.
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As the designated State Liaison Officer for the Na-
tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law
89-665), 1 hereby nominate this property for inclusion
in the National Register and certify that it has been
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forth by the National Park Service. The recommended
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National
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